2004

Lynda Jones, Rulon Jones, Scott Sundell, Lila Sundell, Jerry Gilmore and Cathy Gilmore v. Barbara Johnson and David Johnson : Brief of Appellants

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION BELOW

The issues presented by this appeal are as follows:

1. **Issue:** Whether the district court properly granted summary judgment in favor of plaintiffs based on the restrictive covenants.

Standard of Review: A grant of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness with no deference afforded to the trial court's conclusions of law. When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this Court reviews the record, including all inferences arising therefrom, in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Richards v. Security Pac. Nat'l Bank*, 849 P.2d 606, 608 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). On appeal, this Court gives a trial court's interpretation of restrictive covenants no particular weight and reviews such an interpretation for correctness. *Cecala v. Thorley*, 764 P.2d 643, 644 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

Preservation of Issue in District Court: This issue was preserved in the district court in Defendants' Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment, Memorandum in Support of Rule 56(f) Affidavit and Memorandum in Support of Scheduling Conference and Entry of Attorneys' Planning Meeting Report and Discovery Plan filed on August 25, 2003. (R. 99-105.)

2. **Issue:** Whether the district court properly denied Appellants' motion pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f).

Standard of Review: A district court's decision under Rule 56(f) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Crossland Sav. v. Hatch*, 877 P.2d 1241, 1243 (Utah 1994).

Preservation of Issue in District Court: This issue was preserved in the district court in Defendants' Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment, Memorandum in Support of Rule 56(f) Affidavit and Memorandum in Support of Scheduling Conference and Entry of Attorneys' Planning Meeting Report and Discovery Plan filed on August 25, 2003. (R. 99-105.)

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

The interpretation of the following rules are determinative of this appeal:

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56:

(a) *For claimant.* A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 20 days from the commencement of the action or after service of a motion for summary judgment by the adverse party, move for summary judgment by the adverse party, move for summary judgment upon all or any part thereof.

(b) *Motion and Proceedings thereon.* The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

. . . .

(f) *When affidavits unavailable.* Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that the party cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify the party's opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below

This is an appeal from a Decision and Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, Denying Defendants' Rule 56(f) Motion. (R. 159-68.)

The Complaint in this action was filed on or about December 26, 2002 seeking declaratory and injunctive relief based on defendants' alleged violation of restrictive covenants requiring that homes in a subdivision in Sandy, Utah be built from certain materials. (R. 1-21.) On March 7, 2003, defendants filed an Answer to Complaint denying the allegations in the Complaint. (R. 30-34.)

On July 23, 2003, plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting memorandum and affidavits. (R. 35-95.) On August 3, 2005, before an attorneys' planning meeting report had been conducted and before any discovery had taken place, defendants filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment, Memorandum in Support of Rule 56(f) Affidavit and Memorandum in Support of Scheduling Conference and Entry of Attorneys' Planning Meeting and Discovery Plan ("Opposition and Rule 56(f) Motion"). (R. 96-134.) In support of their Opposition and Rule 56(f) Motion, defendants' counsel filed a Rule 56(f) affidavit requesting that before the court rule on the motion for summary judgment, defendants be allowed time to conduct discovery regarding, among other things, non-compliance with the CC&R's by several residents of the Subdivision. (R. 124-27.) Mr. Stephens also requested a scheduling conference and the entry of a scheduling order in the case. (R. 124-27.)

On November 20, 2003, the district court granted the Motion for Summary Judgment and denied defendants' Rule 56(f) Motion. On February 9, 2004, a Judgment was entered against defendants ordering them to remove, within one hundred and eighty days (180) of the date of the judgment, the alleged non-conforming material used to finish the outside of their home. (R. 192-95.) Defendants subsequently moved the district court to alter or amend the judgment which was denied on May 3, 2004. (R. 221.) This appeal followed.

B. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

1. Defendants constructed a home and reside at 11787 South History Drive in South Jordan Estates, South Jordan, Utah ("Subdivision") (R. 2.)
2. Plaintiffs are also residents of the Subdivision. (R. 2.)
3. In or around December 1996, the developer of the Subdivision executed and recorded with the Salt Lake County Recorder's Office a Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions of South Jordan Estates, Phase 2 (Amended) ("CC&R's"). (R. 3, 10-17.) A true and correct copy of the CC&R's is submitted herewith as Exhibit 1 to the Addendum.
4. Article I of the CC&R's provides for the establishment of an Architectural Control Committee ("ACC") to approve new construction in the Subdivision. (R. 10.)
5. The CC&R's provide:

ARTICLE I
ARCHITECTURAL CONTROL

Section 1.2 The Committee's approval or disapproval as required in these covenants shall be in writing. The lot owner must submit two sets of formal plans and two site plans, (one set for each of the following: South Jordan City and Owner), which shall contain foundation plan, floor plans and all elevations showing materials to be used in construction, before the review process can commence. In the event the Committee or its designated representative fails to approve or disapprove within 30 days after plans and specifications have been submitted to it, approval would not be required and the related covenants shall be deemed to have been complied with.

Section 1.4 All buildings or sheds must have the approval of the Architectural Control Committee and meet all South Jordan City ordinances and codes.

Section 1.5 Termination of Committee. Upon the first to occur of either (1) the completion of the construction of a Residence and the Landscaping upon each Lot, or (2) the date which shall be five (5) years from the date of this declaration, the Committee shall automatically cease to exist. Any and all rights, duties, and responsibilities of the Committee shall at that time automatically become the rights, duties, and/or responsibilities of the Lot Owners without the necessity of the filing of any amendment to this Declaration or any other action. (R. 11.)

6. Article II of the CC&R's provides as follows:

ARTICLE II
GENERAL RESTRICTIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

Section 2.1 Land Use and Building Types. No building shall be erected, altered, placed or permitted to remain on any Lot other than: (1) one single Family dwelling with enclosed, attached garage for at least two cars. (2) One other detached building which is architecturally compatible with the residence. . . .

(Emphasis added.)

7. Article III of the CC&R's states:

ARTICLE III

RESIDENTIAL AREA COVENANTS

Section 3.1 Guidelines, Part A.

....

4. Each dwelling must have a masonry exterior with all brick, or brick and stucco, or rock and stucco. All stucco work must include some popout detail work on all four sides.

....

Section 3.4 City Ordinances. All improvements on a Lot shall be made, constructed and maintained and all activities on a Lot shall be undertaken, in conformity with all laws and ordinances of the City of South Jordan, Salt Lake County, and the State of Utah which may apply, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all zoning and land use ordinances. . . .

....

Section 3.6 Nuisances. No . . . large trucks, commercial vehicles, construction, or like equipment of any kind or type, shall be stored or parked on the road or lot or in the front area of the home of any residential LOT in the subdivision except while engaged in transporting to or from a residence in the neighborhood. Also, no semi trucks or trailers will be allowed in the subdivision at any time, and no curb-side parking of any vehicle will be allowed in the street during winter months, overnight or for any period longer than four hours. No motor vehicles of any type shall be parked or permitted to remain on the streets or on the property unless they are in running condition, properly licensed and being regularly used. . . .

Section 3.7 Location of Recreational Vehicles. Boats, trailer, campers and motor homes may not be stored in the front yard of any LOT or in the street side yard of a corner LOT in excess of 24 hours

Section 3.10 Landscaping. All front and side yards must be landscaped within eighteen (18) months after dwelling is occupied. Rear yards must be landscaped within two (2) years of occupation of dwelling. . . .

8. Article IV of the CC&R's provides that:

ARTICLE IV

GENERAL PROVISION

Section 4.1. Enforcement. Any Owner shall have the right to enforce, by any proceeding at law or in equity, all restrictions, conditions, reservations, liens and charges now or hereafter imposed by the provisions of this Declaration. Failure by any Owner to enforce any covenants or restrictions herein contained shall in no event be deemed a waiver of the right to do so thereafter. Litigation costs arising from noncompliance of these restrictive covenants will be borne by the losing party.

9. The original ACC established under the CC&R's terminated on December 4, 2001. (R. 11.)

10. On or about July 31, 2002, defendants submitted a building permit application to the Building Department of South Jordan City ("City") to construct their home using a material known as Hardi-plank for the exterior of the home. (R. 129.)

11. Hardi-plank is a masonry material made of cement, ground sand, cellulose fiber and select additives. Hardi-plank is not made from vinyl or aluminum and has a masonry-like finish. (R. 101.)

12. After defendants submitted their building permit application to the City, the City informed defendants that they were required to add a percentage of brick to the exterior of the home. (R. 129.) Defendants complied with the City's request and revised the original plans to use some brick on the exterior of their home. (R. 129.)

13. After some neighbors in the Subdivision complained to defendants about the material being used on the exterior of their home, defendants contacted the City and inquired as to whether defendants must remove the Hardi-plank material. (R. 130.)

14. The City informed defendants that they were not required to remove the Hardi-plank from the exterior of the home because it is a masonry product that meets the City's building material requirements. (R. 130.)

15. Defendants made several attempts to resolve the complaints of the residents in the Subdivision by contacting various individuals to address the issues regarding the materials used on the exterior of defendants' home. (R. 131.) Defendants also attempted to attend a neighborhood meeting where the issues regarding defendants' home were being discussed. (R. 131.) The residents who attended the neighborhood meeting refused, however, to allow defendant to participate in the meeting. (R. 131.)

16. During the neighborhood meeting, the formation of an architectural control committee was discussed. (R. 131.)

17. On or about November 24, 2002, plaintiffs and other members of the Subdivision signed a petition requesting that defendants comply with the CC&R's. The petition states that "[n]o other house in the South Jordan Estates has siding and they have all complied with this covenant" regarding building material requirements in the CC&R's. (R. 77-81.)

18. Several lots in the Subdivision include structures that do not comply with the CC&R's, including an unfinished shed and an unfinished garage. (R. 132.)

19. One home in the Subdivision is partially finished with the same Hardi-plank material used on defendants' home. This home also does not have a finished yard as required by the CC&R's. (R. 132.)

20. One home in the Subdivision had a trailer parked in front of the home for over one (1) year in violation of the CC&R's. That home also has an addition that was never submitted to or approved by the ACC or any residents in the subdivision. (R. 132.)

21. On or about December 26, 2002, plaintiffs filed the Complaint in this action seeking declaratory and injunctive relief. (R 1-21.)

22. On or about March 7, 2003, defendants filed an Answer to Complaint denying the allegations in the Complaint. (R. 30-34.)

23. On or about July 23, 2003, plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting memorandum and affidavits. (R. 35-95.)

24. On August 25, 2003, defendants filed their Opposition Memorandum and Rule 56(f) Motion and supporting affidavits. (R. 96-134.)

25. The affidavit of R. Brent Stephens submitted in support of defendants' Rule 56(f) Motion states:

[D]iscovery, including necessary affidavits and depositions, have not been taken for the reasons stated herein, and . . . the Court should enter a scheduling order to permit further affidavits to be obtained, depositions to be taken, and necessary discovery undertaken in order to obtain a full record and permit these defendants on that full record to further controvert the ultimate issues of fact of the validity of the []CC&Rs, the issue of waiver, the issue of impossibility of performance, the issue of estoppel.

No attorneys' planning meeting or discovery has been obtained.

Defendants request thirty (30) days to file requests for production of documents and depose the plaintiffs.

....

Otherwise, these defendants are prejudiced if the relief sought under Rule 56(f), U.R.C.P., is not granted, and such prejudice is caused, in

part, by plaintiffs' failure to submit a discovery plan to defendants' counsel. (R. 125.)

26. On or about November 24, 2003, the district court entered a Decision and Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, Denying Defendants' Rule 56(f) Motion ("Order"). (R. 159-168). The Order states that upon termination of the original ACC under the CC&R's:

Essentially, the ACC became a "committee of the whole" of the Lot Owners. Having been put on notice relatively early in the building process that there were issues with the proposed exterior of Defendants' home, Defendants made no effort to address how architectural clearance should be sought from the Lot Owners, to whom the review function devolved. The subdivision at issue is only comprised of 26 lots. Therefore, a committee of the whole could have been organized for purpose[s] of this review issue, especially once Defendants were put on notice of the alleged problems via direct communication, the neighbors' signed petition and the cease and desist order. This Court believes the burden was on Defendants to engage in a dialogue with their neighbors around resolution of the issues. Defendants declined to do so. Instead, they proceeded to complete their home despite the protests of their neighbors. (R. 165) (emphasis added).

27. With respect to defendants' argument regarding ambiguity of the CC&R's, the Order states:

The Court categorically rejects Defendants' claims that the CC&R provision dealing with home exteriors is ambiguous. It is difficult to fathom more clear and unambiguous language than that which states the exterior finish of homes in the subdivision must be all brick, brick and stucco or rock and stucco. . . . (R. 165.)

28. Regarding defendants' assertions that other residents in the Subdivision had violated the CC&R's the court stated that non-compliance with CC&R's constituting abandonment of the CC&R's must be:

Substantial and general noncompliance with the covenant and the violations must be so substantial as to destroy the usefulness of the covenants. If the original purpose of the covenant can still be accomplished and substantial benefit will continue to inure to residents, the covenants will stand. (citations and quotations omitted) (R. 165-66.)

. . . .

Defendants cite three specific addresses in the subdivision where allegedly there are, or may be violations of the CC&R's. Only one of the alleged violations is arguably related to the issues before the Court. . . . The Court is unclear as to what, exactly, is meant by Defendants' statement. In any event, this is hardly indicative that there has been such "substantial and general noncompliance with the covenant" requiring all subdivision homes to be built of all-brick, brick and stucco or rock and stucco as to establish as a matter of law, to a "clear and convincing" standard, that this covenant has been abandoned. (R. 167) (emphasis added).

29. With respect to defendants' Rule 56(f) Motion, the district court ruled:

The Court has reviewed counsel's Rule 56(f) affidavit and concludes that it fails to establish "what facts are within the . . . exclusive knowledge of the party moving for summary judgment or what steps Defendants have attempted to move the discovery process forward. Nothing in counsel's affidavit explains how a continuance would aid Defendant's opposition to summary judgment. The Court believes discovery is unnecessary on what are, essentially, issues of law—the validity of the CC&R's, waiver, and impossibility of performance. . .

(R. 168) (emphasis added).

30. On or about February 18, 2004, the district court entered a Judgment against defendants requiring that they remove the Hardi-plank material from their home within one hundred eighty (180) days of the entry of the Judgment and entered an award of \$6,180.02 in attorneys' fees. (R. 193.) On or about June 18, 2004, the court stayed enforcement of the judgment pending the outcome of this appeal. (R. 273-75.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Summary judgment is proper only where no material issues of fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. In this case, issues of fact were raised by defendants in their opposition to the motion for summary judgment and additional issues of fact could have been adduced if defendants had been allowed to conduct additional discovery pursuant to Rule 56(f). Specifically, the CC&R's are ambiguous as to what type of materials are included in the meaning of the word "stucco." Specifically, the CC&R's do not specify whether a material that is made of the same compounds as stucco but looks somewhat different from traditional stucco is permitted under the CC&R's.

In addition, the CC&R's are ambiguous in that they do not specify the procedure for seeking or obtaining approval for construction in the Subdivision after the termination of the original architectural control committee. The trial court, however, failed to address these ambiguities and instead impermissibly imposed its own interpretation of the CC&R's rather than allowing additional discovery and considering all relevant parol and extrinsic evidence to determine the meaning of the restrictive covenants. The district court erred in ignoring the ambiguities in the CC&R's and denying defendants the opportunity to further address the meaning of the CC&R's through discovery. The district court's order should accordingly be reversed.

In their opposition to the motion for summary judgment, defendants raised several issues of fact regarding whether violations of the CC&R's throughout the Subdivision constituted abandonment of the restrictive covenants. Defendants also requested

additional time to explore through the discovery process the relevant evidence related to violations and abandonment of the CC&R's. However, rather than acknowledging the existence of such facts and allowing defendants to flesh out in discovery the relevant evidence regarding abandonment of the CC&R's, the district court summarily dismissed defendants' argument regarding violation and abandonment of the CC&R's. The grant of summary judgment was accordingly improper and should be vacated by this Court.

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