2004

Lynda Jones, Rulon Jones, Scott Sundell, Lila Sundell, Jerry Gilmore and Cathy Gilmore v. Barbara Johnson and David Johnson: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Defendants claimed that five paragraphs in Plaintiffs' statement of facts (paragraphs 9 through 13) were "disputed," but failed to provide a "verbatim restatement of each of the movant's statement of facts as to which the party contends a genuine issue exists." Utah R. Jud. Admin 4-501 (2)(B) (2003) (repealed November 1, 2003) (Add. 22.). In addition, Defendants failed to cite any portions of the record which supported their contentions concerning these factual statements. *Id.* ("Each disputed fact shall specifically refer to those portions of the record upon which the opposing party relies.")

---

<sup>1</sup> Defendants stated that they were not contesting Paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 5, 14, 15, 16, or 17 of Plaintiff's statement of facts. Defendants did not respond at all to Paragraphs 3 or 6. (R. 98-99.)

Because these five paragraphs were not properly disputed, they are also deemed admitted for purposes of summary judgment. The trial court recognized this, noting as follows: “Generally this Court construes Defendants[’] failure to comply with Rule 4-501 as a failure to identify material issues of fact in dispute that would preclude entry of summary judgment against them.” (Add. 5.) Defendants’ Memorandum did not establish an issue of material fact which would preclude summary judgment in favor of the Plaintiffs.

**2. *Defendants Did Not Present Proper Evidence of Additional Material Facts***

In their brief, Defendants assert that “Hardi-plank is the same as stucco, and a question of fact remains as to whether Hardi-plank is stucco under the CC&R’s.” (Appellants’ Br. at 15.) However, Defendants provided no admissible evidence to the trial court regarding the composition of the Hardi-Plank® siding installed on their residence or its similarity to stucco. In Defendants’ Memorandum, Defendants made an unsupported allegation that Hardi-Plank® siding is made of “fiber-cement” and is composed of “cement, ground sand, cellulose fiber, and select additives.” (R. 101.) This assertion was not supported by an affidavit or any discovery material. Accordingly, this unsupported factual assertion could not properly be considered by the trial court and was insufficient to create an issue of fact which would preclude summary judgment.

In their brief, Defendants reiterate the unsupported allegation regarding the composition of Hardi-Plank® siding. (Appellants’ Br. at 7.) Clearly, Defendants cannot now rely upon an allegation which they failed to properly support in the summary judgment proceeding before the trial court.

**B. The Trial Court Correctly Determined That the CC&Rs Were Not Ambiguous**

**1. *Defendants Waived Their Arguments Concerning Ambiguity by Failing to Preserve Them in the Trial Court***

“It is a well-established rule that a defendant who fails to bring an issue before the trial court is generally barred for raising it the first time on appeal.” *State v. Irwin*, 924 P.2d 5, 7 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). The ambiguity arguments raised by Defendants in this appeal were not raised in the trial court.

In their appellants’ brief, Defendants argue that “because the CC&R’s do not expand on the definition of stucco and what type of products constitute stucco, an ambiguity exists regarding the type of materials that are allowed under the CC&R’s.” (Appellants’ Br. at 15-16.) Defendants never presented this argument to the trial court. The word “ambiguous” is used only once in Defendants’ memorandum in opposition to Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment (“Defendants’ Memorandum”) as follows: “Finally, the guidelines [of the CC&Rs] are ambiguous and have lapsed in accordance with their terms.” (R. 99.) This sentence appeared in the section of Defendants’ Memorandum which responded to Plaintiffs’ statement of facts. Nowhere in the argument portion of Defendants’ Memorandum is ambiguity asserted. (R. 99-104.) Defendants’ Memorandum does not identify any word or passage in the CC&Rs which Defendants claim to be ambiguous. (R. 96-104.)

In addition, Defendants’ Memorandum never asserts that the Hardi-Plank® Lap Siding installed by the Defendants is a type of stucco or shares characteristics with stucco. (R. 96-104.) The idea that the word “stucco” is ambiguous has been raised for

the first time by the Defendants in their Brief of Appellants. (Appellants' Br. 15-16.) Because this issue was not raised below, and because Defendants have provided no additional basis for this Court to review an issue not preserved in the trial court, Defendants have waived their right to present this issue on appeal.

Defendants also argue in their brief that ambiguity exists in the CC&R provisions regarding obtaining approval after the termination of the Committee. (Appellants' Br. at 16-17.) This assertion of ambiguity was never raised before the trial court. Because this issue was not raised below, and because Defendants have provided no additional basis for this Court to review an issue not preserved in the trial court, Defendants have waived their right to present this issue on appeal.

## **2.     *The CC&R Provisions Regarding Home Exteriors Are Not Ambiguous***

Defendants failed to preserve their ambiguity argument regarding the CC&R home exterior provisions. However, even if this ambiguity issue had been duly preserved, it would not have changed the trial court's correct decision to grant summary judgment in Plaintiffs' favor.

In their brief, Defendants incorrectly argue that the CC&Rs' use of the term "stucco" is ambiguous. (Appellants' Br. at 15-16.) Defendants properly indicate that restrictive covenants are not ambiguous unless they "are susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations." *View Condo. Owners Ass'n v. MSICO, L.L.C.*, 2004 UT App 104, ¶ 19, 90 P.3d 1042. Therefore, to establish ambiguity, Plaintiffs were obligated to present to the court two or more reasonable interpretations of "stucco" which would

have differing impacts on the claims in the present case. Plaintiffs have not presented any reasonable interpretation of the word “stucco” which would encompass the Hardi-Plank<sup>®</sup> siding they installed on their residence. Accordingly, as it applies to the present case, the term “stucco” is not ambiguous and should be construed according to its plain and ordinary meaning. *First Am. Title Ins. Co. v. J.B. Ranch, Inc.*, 966 P.2d 834, 836 (Utah 1998).

While Defendants attempt to couch the alleged ambiguity as a factual issue, the initial determination of whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law. *Enerco, Inc. v. SOS Staffing Services, Inc.*, 2002 UT 78, ¶ 6, 52 P.3d 1272 (“Whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law.”); *Wagner v. Clifton*, 2002 UT 109, ¶ 12, 62 P.3d 440 (same) ; *Parduhn v. Bennett*, 2002 UT 93, ¶ 5, 61 P.3d 982; *Plateau Mining Co. v. Division of State Lands and Forestry*, 802 P.2d 720, 725 (Utah 1990) (“Whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law which must be decided before parol evidence is admitted.”) The trial court, responding to the sole, cryptic reference to ambiguity in Defendants’ Memorandum, ruled as a matter of law that the CC&Rs were unambiguous:

The Court categorically rejects Defendants’ claims that the CC&R provision dealing with home exteriors is ambiguous. It is difficult to fathom more clear and unambiguous language than that which states the exterior finish of homes in the subdivision must be all brick, brick and stucco, or rock and stucco. *See* CC&R section 3.1(4).

(Add. 7.) The trial court’s ruling in this regard is not erroneous.

3. *The CC&R Provisions Regarding Termination of the Architectural Control Committee Are Not Ambiguous*

In their brief, Defendants argue that the CC&R provisions regarding approval of building plans after termination of the Committee are ambiguous. Once again, however, Defendants failed to preserve this issue at the trial court. But even if this issue had been raised before the trial court, it would not have altered the trial court's proper decision to grant summary judgment in Plaintiffs' favor.

Defendants do not identify any language in the CC&Rs regarding the termination of the Committee which Defendants claim is ambiguous. Instead, Defendants argue that the CC&Rs lack direction regarding obtaining approval once the Committee is terminated. (Appellants' Br. at 16-17.) This lack of direction, Defendants argue, constitutes an ambiguity. To the contrary, the CC&Rs are clear about the procedure for obtaining approvals from the Committee or from the Lot Owners to whom the Committee's responsibilities revert after five years.

Prior to termination of the Committee, the CC&Rs require each building or shed to be approved by both the Committee and South Jordan City. (Add. 12 at § 1.4.) A lot owner wishing to construct a residence is required to submit two set of formal plans to the Committee for review. The Committee then has 30 days to provide written approval or rejection of the plans. (Add. 12 at § 1.2.) The entire Committee can made decisions, or a majority of the Committee can designate a representative to act for the Committee. (Add. 11 at § 1.1.)

The Committee “automatically cease[s] to exist” upon the earlier of (1) construction of a residence on each lot in the Subdivision or (2) the passage five years from the date of the CC&Rs. (Add. 12 at § 1.5.) In the present case the expiration of the five-year period triggered the termination of the Committee because no residence was constructed on Lot 226 within five years. (R. 71 & 75.) Upon termination of the Committee, “any and all rights, duties, and/or responsibilities of the Committee shall at that time automatically become the rights, duties, and/or responsibilities of the Lot Owners without the necessity of the filing of any amendment to this Declaration or any other action.” (Add. 12 at § 1.5.) To put it simply, after the expiration of five years, the Committee expanded to include all owners of the 26 lots the Subdivision in what the trial court aptly describes as a “committee of the whole.” (Add. 6.) Like the Committee, the Lot Owners can take action as an entire body or they can designate representatives to act on their behalf. (Add. 11 at § 1.1.)

The approval process under the CC&Rs is the same regardless of whether the approval is sought from the Committee or the Lot Owners. The lot owner seeking to construct a residence is required to submit two sets of plans to the Lot Owners for approval, and approval must be granted or denied in writing within 30 days. (Add. 12 at § 1.2.) There is nothing ambiguous about the procedure, and the trial court properly granted Plaintiffs’ summary judgment motion.

The trial court noted the Defendants’ refusal to seek approval from the Lot Owners as follows:

Having been put on notice relatively early in the building process that there were issues with the proposed exterior of the Defendants' home, Defendants made no effort to address how architectural clearance should be sought from the Lot Owners, to whom the review function devolved. The subdivision at issue is only comprised of 26 lots. Therefore, a committee of the whole could have been organized for purpose of this review issue, especially once Defendants were put on notice of the alleged problems via direct communication, the neighbors' signed petition and the cease and desist letter. This court believes the burden was on Defendants to engage in a dialogue with their neighbors around resolution of the issues. Defendants declined to do so. Instead, they proceeded to complete their home despite the protests of their neighbors.

(Add. 6-7.) Defendants did not seek or obtain permission from any of the Lot Owners prior to constructing the residence on Lot 226. Defendants' refusal to seek approval of their house plans and their use of noncompliant materials on the exterior of their residence constitute clear violations of the CC&Rs. The trial court correctly ruled that the Committee termination provisions were not ambiguous and granted Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment as a matter of law.

**C. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled that the Covenants Regarding Building Exteriors Had Not Been Abandoned**

In response to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, Defendants argued that there had been a "failure of other residents to comply with the DCC&Rs." An affidavit submitted by Defendants presents several alleged violations of the CC&Rs. (R. 132.) Only one of the alleged violations, however, dealt with the exterior finish of dwellings: Defendants asserted that a particular house "has Hardi-Plank® on the window cutouts . . . ." (R. 132.) To the extent this constituted an argument by Defendants that the CC&Rs provisions had been waived or abandoned, the trial court correctly rejected this argument.



The Utah Supreme Court has given detailed guidance regarding the abandonment of restrictive covenants:

Restrictive covenants are a common method of effectuating private residential developmental schemes. See [9 RICHARD R. POWELL, POWELL ON REAL PROPERTY (Patrick J. Rohan ed., 1998)], *supra*, § 60.06[3], at 60-104 to 60-112. Property owners who purchase land in such developments have a right to enforce such covenants against other owners who violate them. See *Crimmins v. Simonds*, 636 P.2d 478, 480-81 (Utah 1981); POWELL, *supra*, § 60.07[c], at 60-121. Conduct by property owners within a development, however, may terminate and render unenforceable a particular covenant where such conduct so substantially changes the character of the neighborhood as to neutralize the benefit of the covenant, see *Crimmins*, 636 P.2d at 479, or constitutes evidence of the abandonment of the covenant. See *Fink v. Miller*, 896 P.2d 649, 653 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

The case law is uniform that before an abandonment of a covenant may be found there must be “substantial and general noncompliance” with the covenant. *B.B.P. Corp. v. Carroll*, 760 P.2d 519, 524 (Ala. 1988); *Tompkins [v. Buttrum Constr. Co. of Nev.]* 99 Nev. 142, 659 P.2d 865, 865 (Nev. 1983)]. One court has stated that in order for there to be an abandonment, a covenant must be “habitually and substantially violated.” *Reading v. Keller*, 67 Wn.2d 86, 406 P.2d 634, 637 (Wash. 1965) (internal quotations omitted). The violations must be so substantial as to destroy the usefulness of the covenant and support a finding that the covenant has become burdensome. See *Keller v. Branton*, 667 P.2d 650, 654 (Wyo. 1983). If the original purpose of the covenant can still be accomplished and substantial benefit will continue to inure to residents, the covenant will stand.

*Swenson v. Erickson*, 2000 UT 16, ¶¶ 21-22, 998 P.2d 807.

The trial court noted that the “obvious answer to the waiver argument” is found in the CC&R provision stating that “[f]ailure by any owner to enforce any covenants or restrictions herein contained shall in no event be deemed a waiver of the right to do so hereafter.” (Add. 8 & 17.) Even in the absence of this language, the Court held that the evidence presented by Defendants did not show “such ‘substantial and general

noncompliance with the covenant’ requiring all subdivision homes to be built of all-brick, brick and stucco or rock and stucco as to establish as a matter of law, to a ‘clear and convincing’ standard, that this covenant has been abandoned.” (Add. 9.) The trial court properly considered the requirements of *Swenson* and ruled that there had been no abandonment of the exterior finish covenant. Accordingly, the trial court correctly entered summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs.

## **II. THE INJUNCTIVE RELIEF GRANTED BY THE TRIAL COURT WAS PROPER**

### **A. Defendants Failed to Preserve Their Injunctive Relief Argument in the Trial Court**

Defendants argue on appeal that the Court failed to properly apply a “balance of injury” test in determining whether to grant injunctive relief. However, in response to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment, Defendants never argued that injunctive relief was inappropriate or that the trial court must apply a balancing test. Defendants’ Memorandum does not even contain the words “injunctive” or “balancing.” (R. 96-104.) Defendants presented no legal authorities to the trial court regarding injunctive relief relating to restrictive covenants. Once again, because this issue was not preserved below, Defendants have waived their right to present this issue on appeal.

### **B. Injunctive Relief was Proper Even After Application of a “Balance of Injury” Test**

Defendants failed to preserve at the trial court their argument that a “balance of injury” test should have been conducted by the trial court. But even if this issue had been

raised before the trial court, it would not have altered the trial court's proper decision to grant summary judgment on Plaintiffs' injunctive relief claims.

The Utah Supreme Court has described the "balance of injury" test as follows:

Under [the balance of injury] test, an equity court may exercise its discretion not to grant injunctive relief when the plaintiff is not irreparably harmed by the violation, the violation was innocent, defendants' cost of removal would be disproportionate and oppressive compared to the benefits plaintiffs would derive from it, and plaintiffs can be compensated by damages.

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